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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

FEBRUARY 25, 2019 

DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2019-0035 

2806 SAN PEDRO STREET 

 

PROPOSAL 

Relocate a ca. 1925 house outside the city limits. 

 

ARCHITECTURE 

One-story, rectangular-plan, side-gabled building; wood siding; 1:1 vinyl-sash windows; 

simplified Craftsman influences. 

 

RESEARCH 

S. Raymond and Gladys Brooks were the first and longest-term residents, though they only 

lived in the house a decade at most (ca. 1927-ca. 1935). S. Raymond Brooks was a reporter 

for the American Statesman, managing editor for the Austin American, and Capitol 

correspondent for American Publishing Company who later earned the title “dean of the 

Capitol Press Corps… a complete newspaper in the form of a man” After the Brooks family 

moved out, a series of short-term residents occupied the house. Until the early 1940s, it 

appears that widowed women headed the household and rented rooms to single 

professionals and UT students; after that, residents are more varied, though students still 

predominate. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS 

The building does not appear to meet the criteria for designation as a historic landmark. 

 

Designation Criteria—Historic Landmark 
1) The building is more than 50 years old. 

2) The building retains a relatively high degree of integrity. Windows have been 

replaced. 

3) Properties must meet two significance criteria for landmark designation (City of 

Austin Land Development Code, Section 25-2-352). The property does not appear to 

meet two criteria. 

a. Architecture. The house does not appear to possess architectural distinction. 

b. Historical association. S. Raymond and Gladys W. Brooks were the first 

residents, living in the house for approximately nine years. Raymond Brooks 

became a well-known reporter with numerous accolades by the late 1950s. 

However, he lived in the house in his earliest years of reporting, and there do 

not appear to be significant historical associations. 

c. Archaeology. The property was not evaluated for its potential to yield 

significant data concerning the human history or prehistory of the region. 

d. Community value. The property does not appear to have a unique location, 

physical characteristic, or significant feature that contributes to the 

character, image, or cultural identity of the city, a neighborhood, or a 

particular group. 

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed 

landscape with artistic, aesthetic, cultural, or historical value to the city. 
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STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the relocation application, subject to completion of a City of Austin Documentation 

Package, consisting of photographs of all elevations, a dimensioned sketch plan, and a 

narrative history, for archiving at the Austin History Center. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Photos 

 
Primary (east) façade of 2806 San Pedro Street. 
 
 

Occupancy History 

Completed by Historic Preservation Office staff 

February 2019 

 

1924 Address not listed 

 

1927-35 S. Raymond and Gladys W. Brooks, owners 

 Raymond worked as a reporter for the Austin Statesman (1927, 1930-31, 1935), 

managing editor for the Austin American (1929), and Capitol correspondent for 

American Publishing Company (1932-33). 

 

1939 Mrs. Adelaide Allen 

 Mamie Allen, widow of George P. Allen 

 Leonard A. Day 

 Photographer 

 Rovert B. Day 

 Student, University of Texas 

 

 

1941 Mrs. Jessie T. McCracken 

 Orville O. and Juanita F. McCracken 
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 Student, University of Texas 

 Robert J. and Ila G. Meers 

 Robert was a student at the University of Texas, while Ila worked as a 

stenographer for Coffman Daily & Aldridge. 

 Martha L. Williams 

 Stenographer, Coffman Daily & Aldridge 

 

1944 Joseph R. and Gladys Davis 

 

1949 Blocker O. and Elizabeth Martin 

 Salesman 

 R. Kenn and Martha S. Trenary 

 Assistant manager, Stephen F. Austin Hotel 

 

1952 Mary P. Nelson 

 Student, University of Texas 

 Billye McLendon, renter 

 Teacher, Rosedale School 

 Odessa Parsons, renter 

 Teacher 

 

1955 Vacant 

 

1959 John S. Lauer 

 Student 

 Spencer C. Relyea 

 Student 

 Ben Woodhead 

 Student 

 

1962 Hugh Woods 

 Student 

 

1965 Anthony P. Eastmond 

 Student 

 

1968 Vacant 

 

1973 Clare Judd 

 Student 

 

1977 Mary L. Baldwin 

 No occupation listed 

 

1986-92 Elizabeth (Liz) Kline 

 No occupation listed 
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Background Research 

Sam Raymond Brooks was born in 1894 in Rodessa, Louisiana. He attended Rice University 

for two years and served as an assistant editor of The Thresher yearbook in 1916. Before 

attending Rice, he had worked as a reporter at the Beaumont Enterprise, owned by William 

P. Hobby. Records from 1917 show him working as the assistant secretary at Beaumont’s 

Chamber of Commerce, but he soon moved to Austin to work as administrative assistant to 

then-Governor Hobby (term 1917-21). He lived in the Governor’s Mansion for most of that 

time, but by 1920 was living in an Austin boarding house with other boarders who also 

worked for various government agencies. 

 

Raymond Brooks became a Capitol reporter in 1921 or 1922 and called himself a 

“blacksmith of words.” During the period he lived at 2806 San Pedro Street (at least 1927 

until at least 1935), he worked as a reporter for the Austin Statesman, managing editor for 

the Austin American, and Capitol correspondent for American Publishing Company, which 

published the Austin American and Austin Statesman. By 1937, he and his family owned 

and lived at 1010 W. 16th Street, and he was working as a newspaper correspondent for a 

media syndicate (unnamed in the Census), beginning an energetic career of “lop[ing] 

happily through life, satisfied with his life work of reporting the news,” according to his 

obituary. “He never walked when he could run, and never rested when he could work.” 

 

Brooks became a Texas legend as an energetic newspaperman with an ear for words and a 

nose for politics. A colorful 1962 profile ribbed that “Raymond has been tabbing Texas 

politicians so long they’ll scarcely caucus unless he’s already in the room.” He covered state 

politics, legislation, and courts for Newspapers, Inc.: the News-Tribune and Times-Herald 

in Waco, the Austin American and Austin Statesman, the Port Arthur News, and the 
Lufkin News. Brooks won the State Bar of Texas Journalism Award for distinguished 

reporting (1956 and 1960) and the Texas Heritage Medal (1957), was honored by a Texas 

Senate Resolution (1959), and earned promotion to brigadier general of the Texas State 

Guard Reserve Corps. He authored two books on Texas tax structure. 

 

Raymond Brooks was also active in civic organizations and public agencies, such as the 

Lower Colorado River Authority (as director in the 1940s), the Austin Chamber of 

Commerce, the Austin Area Economic Development Foundation, and Travis County 

Association for the Blind. He died in 1968 in Houston and was buried in the Texas State 

Cemetery in recognition of his public service. See following pages for newspaper articles. 

 

Gladys Iona Brooks (nee Whitefield or Whitfield) was born in 1900 in Texas. She grew up in 

Grimes, where her father worked as a laborer in a saw mill. In 1922, she married Raymond 

Brooks in Hays County, and the couple had two children. She died in Austin in 1982. See 

following pages for obituary. 
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“Raymond Brooks: Newspaperman,” (1 of 2), Austin American-Statesman, 7/8/1962. 
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“Raymond Brooks: Newspaperman” (2 of 2), Austin American-Statesman, 7/8/1962. 
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Raymond Brooks obituary (1 of 2), The Austin American, 9/20/1968. 
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Raymond Brooks obituary (2 of 2), The Austin American, 9/20/1968. 
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“Brooks’ funeral private,” The Austin American-Statesman, 9/21/1968. 
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Gladys W. Brooks obituary, The Austin American-Statesman, 9/8/1982. 

 

 

Building Permits 

 
Building permit issued to R. H. Montgomery for a rear porch addition, 2/28/1939. 


